

Imagining a Higher Education Institution in the Hamadori Region

Perspectives on Fukushima and Education Inspiration from Abroad



DECARPENTRIE Zoé Research Intern 1 April 2025 – 29 June 2025

15 JULY 2025 Waseda University Fukushima Hamadori Future Creation Research Center MATSUOKA, Shunji

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	2
	1.1 Background information and research purpose	2
	1.2 Lessons from Fukushima	2
2.	Foreign perspectives on (the lessons from) Fukushima	3
	2.1 Media coverage and public discourse	3
	2.2 Educational content	5
	2.3 Governmental reports and country-specific news	6
	2.4 Concluding notes about the foreign perspectives on the lessons from Fukushima	7
3.	Inspiration for the higher education institution in the Hamadori region	9
	3.1 From lessons of Fukushima to the mission of a higher education institution	9
	3.2 Inspiration from abroad1	1
	3.2.1 Newly founded future-minded universities1	1
	3.2.2 Undergraduate and graduate degrees1	2
	3.2.3 Summary of suggestions for the Hamadori HEI based on example HEIs1	3
	3.3 Final suggestions for the Hamadori HEI1	5
4.	Conclusion1	5
5.	Personal reflection1	6
Bi	bliography1	8

1. Introduction

1.1 Background information and research purpose

The Hamadori region derives its name from "road along the coast" and is located along the eastern coast of Fukushima Prefecture in Tohoku. The region has a rich history, with longstanding traditions and cultural practices (Japanese Government, n.d.). On March 11th, 2011, this region faced a compound disaster caused by the Japan Great East Earthquake with magnitude 9.0 that inclined a tsunami with waves over 15 metres, and is still facing consequences to this day. The tsunami brought extensive destruction to everything on its path, including to the nuclear power plant (NPP) Fukushima Daiichi (1F), leading to a disaster rated, the highest, level 7 on the International Nuclear and Radiological Event Scale. Over 100,000 people had to evacuate. While no direct deaths or cases of radiation sickness have occurred, official figures indicate 2313 disaster-related deaths among the evacuees from the Fukushima Prefecture (World Nuclear Association, n.d.). Evacuation orders were issued for 12 municipalities². Today, most have been lifted, only the "difficult-to-return" areas remain (Japanese Government, n.d.).

As a part of revitalization efforts, the establishment of a new higher education institution (HEI) in the Hamadori region could be considered. This report explores that possibility from a foreign perspective. First, it examines how selected countries perceive and respond to the Fukushima disaster and its lessons, based on news articles, educational materials, official and scientific reports. In a next step, this report explores the possibilities for the potential Hamadori HEI, by exploring how the lessons from Fukushima are at the core of the mission. More ideas and suggestion for the educational model and offer of the HEI are considered, drawing on examples from all around the world.

1.2 Lessons from Fukushima

As will become clear, the concept 'lessons from Fukushima' is a large concept, both dynamic and layered, and heavily influenced by the attitude towards nuclear energy. It may vary according to different domains and different perspectives. The domains may include scientific or technical (e.g. NEA, 2016), sociological (e.g. Hasegawa, 2012; Lochard & Chhem, 2023), organisational/regulatory/political lessons (e.g. Wang et al., 2013), ... Multidisciplinary lessons may also be drawn (e.g. NEA, 2021; Yang, 2014). Different perspectives may include academics or scientists (e.g. Ali et al., 2024), civil

society (e.g. Fukushima Booklet Committee, n.d.), political leaders, ... So, the interpretation varies strongly, according to discipline, perspective, attitude towards nuclear energy, ... In general, the lessons of Fukushima denote the important things we learned from the nuclear accident and during the recovery process, which we need to pass on to future generations to not only prevent but also react accordingly if a nuclear accident occurs.

Grasping these lessons from Fukushima is foundational to the Hamadori HEI. The lessons from Fukushima, to be handed over to future generations, are the core of the mission of the university. The burning question is, how can we understand the lessons, even if they are strongly influenced by conflict and tension? We need to discover the core beyond this existing conflict, to act as a pillar of the Hamadori HEI. Moreover, new knowledge can and should be created based on these lessons (S. Matsuoka, personal communication, 25 June 2025). This report will consider the lessons from Fukushima from a foreign, present perspective, as one of the many existing perspectives.

2. Foreign perspectives on (the lessons from) Fukushima

This section outlines how selected European countries engage with the Fukushima nuclear disaster and its aftermath. The focus is on following West-European neighbouring countries with nuclear energy history: Belgium (BE), France (FR), The Netherlands (NL), Germany (DE) and the United Kingdom (UK). Most sources used are published within the last five years, in an attempt to explore the present perspective.

2.1 Media coverage and public discourse

Recent news articles mostly describe following themes: (1) technical issues like treated water release and other decommission challenges, (2) human aspects like stories of evacuated citizens, health effects, compensation claims, and image issues, (3) environmental impacts, like the presence of wild animals in Fukushima, (4) and broader nuclear power debates in Japan and in the world. Firstly, regarding the treated water release, articles appear to range from neutral (e.g. NOS Nieuws, 2023; Redactie, 2023), cautiously critical or emphasizing how there is a lot of criticism, but the risk is low (Heylen, 2023). A mainstream French newspaper writes neutrally about the treated water release (Le Monde, 2025). A smaller French newspaper article is somewhat more direct or

opinionated, calling for maximum transparency from Japan to restore public and diplomatic trust (Courrier International, 2023). In 2024, reports about the robotic waste removal one of 1F's reactors also appeared. In the Belgian coverage also raised questions about whether the decommissioning timeline of 30 to 40 years is realistic, as some experts argue it may take over a century (Rensen, 2024).

Secondly, human-centred reporting includes the Dutch NOS articles on TEPCO's compensation to 3,700 victims and a case filed by six cancer patients demanding a compensation (NOS Nieuws, 2022; Van Der Veere, 2022). In contrast, the UK news channel BBC appears to be more positive, with a story of British luxury retailer selling Fukushima-grown peaches – a part of TEPCO's efforts to help the image issue caused by radiation fear (Armstrong, 2024) and Prime Minister Kishida publicly eating local fish to assure the public and support regional recovery (a.o. Callery, 2023).

Thirdly, the environmental angle is also notable. Articles about the wildlife like wild boars appeared (Waarlo, 2021; NOS Nieuws, 2017). One Belgian piece quite provocatively suggested that the area became a safe haven for wild animal, which can also be a valid reason to leave the area uninhabited and transform into a nature reserve (Waarlo, 2021). Lastly, the broader discussions on nuclear energy vary significantly. The UK newspaper The Economist starts by remembering what happened and then describes Fukushima as a turning point in global energy discourse. They argue for well-regulated nuclear power as a part of the climate solution, while acknowledging the drawbacks. One of the lessons from Fukushima; namely 'greater independence for nuclear regulators' is also mentioned as a reason to keep existing NPPs open (The Economist, 2021). An example of a neutral article is the one written by de Vos (2022) announcing Japan' return to nuclear power. An article leaning more towards to the anti-nuclear end of the spectrum was written for VRT news, one of the main Belgian news channels, 10 years after the accident. The article is based off an interview a Greenpeace representer, Jan Vande Putte, who criticizes the Japan's emergency governance, including the decommissioning and energy mix and the decision to restart reactors, using the lessons of Fukushima as an argument. He adds that the Fukushima nuclear disaster could and should have been avoided (VRT NWS, 2021). Other articles by Greenpeace Belgium, were also published in 2021 (Greenpeace, 2021a & 2021b). In general, they seem a bit less critical, by saying, for example, that a

much bigger accident has been avoided. They also talk about how Belgium did learn a little bit from Fukushima, but not enough. They argue that NPPs are too vulnerable and that it is incomprehensible that Belgium is debating over the closure of the two last NPPs. They argue that 'the arrogance and naivety of some [in Belgium] resemble the stance that caused the disaster of Fukushima' and that it would be irresponsible to shift away from the plan to close all NPPs in Belgium (Greenpeace, 2021a & 2021b).

2.2 Educational content

The Belgian Nuclear Research Centre SCK CEN published non-compulsory educational material for students aged 16-18 title *Life After Fukushima* (Kenens, n.d.). and the goals is to learn about radioactivity and the impact of a nuclear accident on daily life. It contains four chapters, covering topic like the vents of March 11, the daily life of a fictional Fukushima survivor, emergency responses and radioactivity), civil science tools for measuring radioactivity in civil laboratories and lastly about the link between Fukushima and Belgium; emergency responses in Belgium (Kenens, n.d.). The educational emphasis appears to reflect national worries concerning the densely populated areas and potential mass evacuations.

As for France, one source of educational content for youth is also available online. The Fukushima disaster in mentioned in the (non-compulsory) schoolbook *Histoire-Géography*, in chapter 14 titled *Industrial and Technological Risks*. The book criticizes the mismanagement of nuclear accident and indicates to the human errors. Human, environmental, and political consequences are discussed, including the evacuation, cancer risk, waste problem and protests. It also considers how the Japanese accident influenced security evaluations in France, highlighting several failure scenarios if certain exceptional circumstances were to be united (Lelivrescholaire, n.d.).

No substantial educational resources from the Netherlands, Germany or the UK were found online.

2.3 Governmental reports and country-specific news

Governments and regulators across the selected countries viewed Fukushima as a *safety* catalyst. French (ASN, 2023), British (ONR, 2024), and Belgian (FANC, 2020) regulators all referenced lessons learned and the importance of improving risk assessments and crisis responses.

France's Nuclear Safety and Radiation Authority also emphasized the importance of inclusive post-accident governance. One key observation or lesson was that the decisions made during the emergency response stage greatly impact the long-term outcomes. Involving citizens and local stakeholders in recovery planning was deemed essential to restoring trust and managing complex issues, involving environmental, social, and radiological health, aspects (Repères, Interestingly, however, results from a project aiming to understand influence of Fukushima on the French nuclear industry, named AGORAS, found that Fukushima had limited impact on France's nuclear governance. Unlike after Chernobyl or Three Mile Island, French authorities viewed Fukushima as specific to Japan's context and instead saw it as validation of their own regulatory system. While some technical and procedural improvements were made, like enhanced crisis response and post-accident planning, these were mostly extensions of existing efforts. Public debate and political decisions in the nuclear sector remained largely unchanged (I'MTech, 2023).

The UK's ONR carried out significant work with the licensees applying the lessons from the events of Fukushima to enhance nuclear safety. They recognise the legacy of Fukushima and the 'good work undertaken by Japan to tackle the challenges on the Fukushima Daichi site and we will continue to support the country in this work' (ONR, 2021).

A significant governmental decision from Belgium became official on May 15th, 2025. A legal text reopens the door for new nuclear capacity (Bihet, 2025) after the 2003 Nuclear Exit Act stipulated a gradual phaseout (SCK CEN, 2025). Belgium may opt for nuclear energy again, a clear turning point in the energy policy (Bihet, 2025). Fukushima seems to not have had a considerable impact on the phase-out and reversing of the phase-out of nuclear energy in Belgium.

In the Netherlands, official reports merely discuss the implementation of the European Union (EU) stress tests, developed in the wake of Fukushima. They mention the good results for the Netherlands and how that these stress tests and Fukushima provide an opportunity to learn (Autoriteit NVS, 2022). A separate government report acknowledges the difficulty of finding a good balance for the protective measures during a nuclear accident, which can also have, often unintended, negative effects, next to the envisioned effect of lowering exposure to radiation (RIVM, 2020). Fukushima's disaster-related deaths are mentioned in this regard.

Next to being a safety catalyst, Fukushima was also catalyst for decreasing (public) trust and even for nuclear phase-out plans. Germany's case is notable, as Fukushima triggered a policy shift toward complete nuclear phase-out – and shift toward renewable energy (Heid, 2023). Although the initial timeline was affected by the 2022 energy crisis caused by the war in Ukraine; the commitment to exit nuclear energy remained Remarkably, Germany reactivated its old coal-fired power facilities and mined more brown coal to cope with the energy shortages. Some critics point at the risks of non-nuclear energy sources, like air pollution and CO₂ emissions. 18 deaths and 25 deaths per terawatt-hour of energy produced are linked with oil and coal sources respectively, compared to 0.03 deaths, due to accidents or air pollution, per terawatt-hour of energy produced by nuclear power (Heid, 2023; NHK World, 2023).

2.4 Concluding notes about the foreign perspectives on the lessons from Fukushima The foreign perspectives on Fukushima and the lessons from Fukushima reflect a combination of technical interest, policy reassessment, and political agendas. Variability exists within as between countries; not making it straightforward to summarize previous findings. Table 1, however, attempts to make that summary.

Table 1 – Summary of Foreign Perspectives

Country	Media/Public Discourse	Educational Content	Governmental Response
Belgium	From neutral towards a.o. treated water release (de Vos, 2022; Heylen, 2023; Redactie, 2023) to mildly concerned about long decommissioning timeline and revitalization plans (Rensen, 2024; Waarlo, 2021); Greenpeace BE critical of Japan and Belgian nuclear plans (VRT NWS, 2021; Greenpeace, 2021a & 2021b).	SCK CEN developed educational materials on Fukushima for ages 16–18, linking Japanese and Belgian nuclear contexts (Kenens, n.d.). Focus on civil society and practical matter. Reflection of national worries.	FANC sees Fukushima as safety catalyst; improved risk/crisis response planning (FANC, 2020); May 15 th , 2025, marks a turning point for nuclear energy use (Bihet, 2025; SCK CEN, 2025)
France	Neutral media publications on decommissioning (Le Monde, 2025) issues to emphasizing on need for transparency (Courrier International, 2023).	Schoolbook for geography-history risk education addresses mismanagement and consequences (Lelivrescolaire, n.d.)	ASN sees Fukushima as a safety catalyst; stresses better planning and inclusiveness in post-accident governance (ASN, 2023; Repères, 2021); however, Fukushima reinforced belief in French nuclear model (I'MTech, 2023)
The Netherlands	Neutral coverage about water release (NOS Nieuws, 2023); reports with focus on human aspects – victims & compensation (NOS Nieuws, 2022; Van Der Veere, 2022)	No substantial public educational resources found	Reports on good EU stress test results (Autoriteit NVS, 2022); mentions need to balance protective measures and unintended negative impacts (RIVM, 2020)
Germany	Fukushima triggered major anti-nuclear shift; media coverage on completed phase-out & debates over energy trade-offs (e.g., coal vs nuclear) (Heid, 2023; NHK World, 2023)	No substantial public educational resources found	Fukushima led to nuclear phase-out; increased renewables, although temporary reliance on coal (Based on news report Heid, 2023)
United Kingdom	Balanced or positive coverage (Callery, 2023); promotes Fukushima recovery (e.g., peaches) (Armstrong, 2024); presents nuclear energy as part of climate solution (The Economist, 2021)	No substantial public educational resources found	ONR acknowledges the legacy of Fukushima and applied lessons to enhance nuclear safety. Recognises Japan's good work (ONR, 2021)

3. Inspiration for the higher education institution in the Hamadori region

3.1 From lessons of Fukushima to the mission of a higher education institution The initial goal of this report was to explore a foreign perspective on the lessons from Fukushima. Understanding the lessons from Fukushima is an essential element for the establishment of the HEI in the Hamadori region, as their core form the mission. Foreign perspectives on Fukushima can provide insight into how the disaster is socially framed, politically instrumentalized, and taught abroad and might help identifying key themes to address but may not reflect local and/or Japanese needs. Topics like sociology (public trust, public opinion, ...), environmental studies (environmental justice, nuclear waste issues, ...), (public) communication management, political studies, and disaster governance could emerge from previous findings. To form the mission of the Hamadori HEI, we need to dig deeper to the core of the Fukushima lesson(s). From a foreign perspective based on the previous findings and author's interpretation, the lesson of Fukushima highlights the importance of understanding and managing complex systems through inter- and transdisciplinary approaches, greater transparency, and inclusive dialogue among all stakeholders to foster collaborative knowledge creation. Explained: Today, globally humanity faces issues more complex than ever before (Apgar et al., 2009). In the Hamadori region, these issues include the decommissioning of 1F, the reconstruction and revitalization of the Hamadori and even creating a legacy of Fukushima to pass on to future generations, are characterised with complexity. Complex problems reveal high levels of uncertainty, multiple perspectives and multiple interlinked processes from local to global scale. Transdisciplinary approaches can help tackle these issues bringing together different stakeholder groups to share and use their knowledge. Sound dialogue processes and holistic frameworks are needed to facilitate transdisciplinarity (Apgar et al., 2009). These dialogues require transparency and honesty, to foster trust and good teamwork. The Japanese government, however, has been accused and criticised for not being transparent and honest, by attempting to minimize the size of the accident and withholding information and for unwillingness of expanding the evacuation zone. TEPCO has also been criticised in this area (e.g. VRT NWS, 2021).

Now, the transparency around decommissioning timeline is also questioned (e.g. Rensen, 2024).

The amount and complexity of both global and local issues affecting the Hamadori are not likely to decrease any time soon. The 21st century poses several challenges to higher education, including creating future-proof graduates. Fahey (2012) argues that HEI have the task to cultivate 'future leaders and decision-makers capable of understanding and providing solutions to complex', which is relevant to the Hamadori HEI. As stated previously, transdisciplinary approaches are recommended. A paper by Demerath & Suarez (2019) describes how a course in complexity studies can demonstrate transdisciplinarity across disciplines to identify self-organizing networks and the emergence of bounded systems. 'Teaching complexity allows both students and faculty to connect disciplinary expertise to a wider range of knowledge on how things work, giving them a more consilient approach to solving real-world problems' (Demerath & Suarez, 2019). Trandisciplinarity focuses on this complex (wicked) problems that need creative solutions based on broad stakeholder involvement and socially responsible science (Bernstein, 2015).

Refocusing on the mission of the Hamadori HEI. The core of the mission is the Fukushima lesson, the legacy that needs to be passed on to future generations though education. Perhaps the lessons of Fukushima are not meant to be precisely defined, as they are, by nature, dynamic. Instead of fixing them in advance, the process of discovering, exploring, and co-creating knowledge around these lessons could itself become the mission of the Hamadori HEI. To this end, the educational model and offer should equip the students with necessary knowledge, ways of (transdisciplinary) thinking, skills, and (holistic) analytical tools to think about the complex issue that is the legacy of Fukushima. This knowledge and skill set could then be further applied on other (global) complex issues of the 21st century. To explore the possibilities of educational models and offers, we can draw inspiration from other HEIs around the world.

3.2 Inspiration from abroad

Foreign experiences in establishing HEI in a post-disaster area could serve as inspiration for the creation of a HEI in the Hamadori region, but unfortunately, there are no similar cases to be found. The Hamadori case seems to be a unique one. In Europe, there are some programs to rebuild educational facilities after earthquakes (EU4Schools for Albania, EUSF Croatia) or training programs (Italy RETOURN project) for example, but these are not so useful as examples (EU4School, n.d.; European Commission, 2023; Retourn, n.d.). So alternatively, inspiration may come from other newly founded universities and/or degrees covering relevant topics.

Four examples are proposed to draw suggestions for the Hamadori HEI. Two newly founded future-minded universities and two degrees are discussed. The selection was based on previous findings but might be slightly biased towards the author's background.

3.2.1 Newly founded future-minded universities

Firstly, Krea University in India that was founded in 2018 offers a compelling model for the HEI in Hamadori. With its mission to help humanity prepare for an unpredictable world, the university practices *Interwoven Learning*, an interdisciplinary approach that links art, sciences, past experiences and future readiness. This holistic approach is highly relevant for an area recovering from disaster and engaging in long-term revitalization, as the students learn to understand a messy and chaotic world. Krea's flexible curriculum, allowing students to combine diverse disciplines, encourages ethical and comprehensive problem-solving (Krea University, 2024; Krea University, 2025). This could support Hamadori's efforts to rebuild, foster community resilience, and engage with both local and global challenges. To sum up, the Hamadori HEI could draw inspiration from Krea University's integration of interdisciplinarity and societal engagement to shape a distinct identity for Hamadori's HEI in a unique post-disaster context.

Secondly, the Universidad Del Medio Ambiente (UMA) or University of the Environment in Mexico, founded in 2009, also offers a valuable model for the Hamadori HEI, particularly through its community-driven and practice-oriented approach to education. Their purpose is to build a regenerative, sustainable, and ethical future by preparing individuals to lead socio-environmental initiatives. Its *learning-by-doing* educational model is embedded in all degree programs, where students engage with real projects from their

first year onwards. This approach fosters strong local engagement, practical work skills, and ethical responsibility, which could be components for rebuilding trust and supporting revitalization in the post-disaster Hamadori region. UMA's structured yearly progression of projects show how education can contribute to regional empowerment and ecological resilience, which could inspire similar schemes for the Hamadori HEI (UMA, 2024). Their six faculties focus on human activities essential to face socio-environmental challenges, namely business, construction, agriculture, public policy, education and project development (UMA, 2023).

3.2.2 Undergraduate and graduate degrees

Specific degrees linked to topics relevant for the Hamadori HEI can also serve as inspiration.

The Global Centre for Advanced Studies (GCAS) College Dublin offers, amongst others, an interesting three-year Bachelor in Interdisciplinary studies or Bachelor of Arts that could inspire the curriculum development of the Hamadori HEI. Grounded on student-centred, affordable, and socially engaged education for the betterment of our world, GCAS emphasizes collaboration, critical thinking, and real-world problem-solving (Keystone, n.d.; GCAS College Dublin, n.d.). As a 'decentralised liberal arts-based community', they encourage bold and courageous thinking grounded in history and evidence based reasoning, to engage with global and local challenges (GCAS College Dublin, n.d.) such as clear air and water, clean energies and environmental healing, shelter and peacemaking and providing adequate solutions (Keystone, n.d.), relevant for a region facing challenges for its ecological and social recovery. Thinking grounded on history may inspire the Hamadori HEI to encourage context-depended thinking based on the lessons/history from Fukushima. The curriculum is built to step-by-step move from foundational interdisciplinary knowledge to applied, solution-oriented learning (Keystone, n.d.).

Lastly, as for the master's degree, the Master in Environmental Science and Management from the Free University of Brussels shows how higher education contribute to a better future by focussing on sustainability transitions. The specialisation in Environmental Management trains students to address 'the environmental challenges facing our societies, one of the largest projects of the 21st century' by critically assessing and lead

socio-environmental transformation, through a combination of theory, research seminars and optional internships and/or international exchanges (ULB, n.d.). Courses on complexity, systems thinking, socio-environmental dynamics, ... are part of the program (ULB, n.d.). These kinds of classes may equip students to deal with complex issues, which highly relevant for Hamadori's unique situation. Furthermore, the master graduates are being prepared to address environmental issues with an interdisciplinary approach (ULB, n.d.). This interdisciplinary and action-oriented approach aligns well with Hamadori's needs for local leadership in ecological resilience, public policy, and innovation, and demonstrates how academic institutions can be platforms for societal regeneration.

3.2.3 Summary of suggestions for the Hamadori HEI based on example HEIs

The example HEIs can help inspiring the mission, values, educational model and offer. Table 2 attempts to summarize features of the example HEIs and degrees as discussed above, and the relevance to the development a HEI in Hamadori. For some parts, the Fukushima Institute for Research, Education and Innovation (F-REI) (n.d.) and the Fukushima Innovation Coast Framework (FIPO) (n.d.) may be relevant, as well as nongovernmental initiatives like the Fukshima Renewable Future Fund (FRFF) (n.d.), the project/cafe Nomado (n.d.), and the Futaba Art District (Fukushima Hamadori, n.d.). The purpose of this report is to give a foreign perspective, so the precise application to the Hamadori context is limited and further research recommended. So, this summary mainly bundles suggestions for the creation of a new HEI in the Hamadori region, drawn from example HEIs.

Table 2 - Summary of suggestions from the examples HEIs and degrees

Core Element	Inspirational Elements	Relevance for Hamadori HEI	Source(s)
Mission	Prepare humanity for an unpredictable world (Krea, 2024)		
	Foster a regenerative, sustainable, and ethical future by supporting agents of change promoting initiatives for socio- environmental transformations (UMA, 2024)	Aligns with Hamadori's needs for long-term environmental restoration (e.g. forest regeneration, soil remediation), ethical industry rebuilding, and community well-being. Could support local development plans like the FIPO (FIPO, n.d.)	UMA
Values	Emphasis on sustainability, ethics, collaboration, interdisciplinarity, and consideration of complexity	May support the mission proposed in 3.2.3, reflecting Hamadori's complexity and local memory	All
Educational Model	Interwoven Learning: bridging arts, sciences, theory and practice (Krea, 2024)	A flexible and holistic learning model may help Hamadori's need of skills for creative reconstruction, sustainable agriculture, disaster resilience, renewable energy, and social innovation, all interconnected, complex challenges	Krea
	Learning-by-doing: embedded socio-environmental projects from Year 1 (UMA, 2024)	The students could carry out projects in cooperation with FIPO, F-REI, the NPO Nomado, Fukushima Renewable Future Fund, (FIPO, n.d.; F-REI, n.d.; Nomado, n.d.; FRFF, n.d.)	UMA
	Solution-oriented learning; courageous thinking grounded on history and evidence-based reasoning (GCAS College Dublin, n.d.; Keystone, n.d.)	May encourage students to think about solutions for complex issues faced, based on context-depended thinking grounded on the Fukushima lessons/history	GCAS
Educational offer	Strong interdisciplinary foundation across sciences, humanities, and arts (Keystone, n.d.; Krea, 2024; ULB, n.d.)	Equips students to deal with complexity and uncertainty; highly relevant for Hamadori's unique situation as discussed previously	Krea, ULB, GCAS
	Flexible curriculum (Krea, 2025)	Helps enabling interdisciplinarity	Krea
	Community focus: deep regional involvement through local projects (UMA, 2024)	Models how Hamadori HEI could directly contribute to local communities	UMA
	Courses on complexity, systems thinking, socioenvironmental dynamics,	Again, may equip students to deal with complex issues; highly relevant for Hamadori's unique situation	ULB

3.3 Final suggestions for the Hamadori HEI

To conclude, this chapter presents final suggestions for the Hamadori HEI, based on the Fukushima lesson and the foreign HEIs, from a foreign perspective (the first part of this report and the author's interpretation).

Mission: The Hamadori HEI aims to discover, explore, and co-create knowledge around the dynamic lessons of Fukushima, as well as to prepare students for the 21st century, through interdisciplinary learning, dialogue, and engagement with local and global communities and environment.

Values: sustainability, ethics, collaboration, interdisciplinarity, and consideration of complexity.

Educational model: Interdisciplinary learning and learning-by-contributing (with real local projects).

Educational offer: Strong interdisciplinary foundation, with a focus on community through local projects. Courses in disciplines inspired by previously mentioned topics (sociology, environmental studies,..), as well as courses bundling these disciplines (e.g. socio-environmental dynamics, a ULB course), about complexity and system thinking.

4. Conclusion

The foreign perspectives on the Fukushima nuclear disaster are complex and layered, touching many different disciplines or domains. This report showed how perspectives from five selected countries on the Fukushima disaster and lessons vary widely, often reflecting each country's nuclear energy stance or discourse. Based on these foreign perspectives, this report explores the core of the lessons from Fukushima to form the mission for the Hamadori HEI. Thinking about the Fukushima lesson(s) is not an easy task, as they are overshadowed by the polarized debate of nuclear energy. This report proposes that the lesson from Fukushima is the importance of understanding and managing complex systems through inter- and transdisciplinary approaches, greater transparency, and inclusive dialogue among all stakeholders to foster collaborative knowledge creation. Based on this lesson from Fukushima, the report suggests the following mission: the Hamadori HEI aims to discover, explore, and co-create knowledge around the dynamic lessons of Fukushima, as well as to prepare students for the 21st century, through interdisciplinary learning, dialogue, and engagement with local and global communities and environment. Next to helping to explore the Fukushima lessons for the HEI mission,

the foreign perspectives also underline several topics like sociology, environmental studies, communication management, political studies, and disaster governance that may be relevant for the next step, the exploration of suggestions for the establishment of a new HEI in the Hamadori region.

The situation in the Hamadori region is unique, as nowhere in the world, a HEI was established in a similar region. Innovative HEIs and degrees around the world, however, offer valuable examples for the establishment of the Hamadori HEI. Institutions like Krea University, UMA, GCAS College, and ULB demonstrate how values and missions related to as sustainability, interdisciplinarity, community engagement, and project-based learning can form the foundation of a university in Hamadori deeply rooted in its local context while preparing students for global challenges. A future-facing, community-focused university in the Hamadori region could play a transformative role in regional revitalization and in education adapted to a rapidly changing, complex world.

This report offers merely suggestions from a foreign perspective, one of many perspectives relevant to consider for the establishment of a new HEI. Thus, the report is limited in its scope and further research is recommended, particularly from a local or Japanese perspective. Additionally, this report did not go deep into theories and academic works higher education for example. Further research in this realm would also be interesting in light of the establishment of a new HEI in the Hamadori region.

5. Personal reflection

Writing this report was a challenging, yet fascinating and compelling experience. I found it much more difficult than expected to try and talk about foreign perspectives on Fukushima, as nuclear energy in general is a very polarized topic. Reading day in day out about nuclear energy was quite hard as it reminded me about how everything is linked to energy and how the production and use of energy in its largest sense is the main cause of the climate change. Energy is also inextricably linked with power and social issues. With energy in its largest sense, I mean electricity, fossil fuels, as well as food. Many different opinions and perspectives on Fukushima and nuclear energy in general confused me sometimes and I realised that my own view on Fukushima and nuclear

power in general is dynamic, prone to change according to the sources I had been reading on a certain day. It was not easy to think beyond the tension surrounding nuclear energy.

Founding a HEI in a post-triple disaster area is unprecedented, so there is no single perfect model to follow. Yet, I believe establishing a new HEI in the Hamadori region presents a unique opportunity to contribute to the revitalization of the area and can act as a vehicle for change towards a better future by fostering 'future-proof' graduates, people equipped to contribute meaningfully to a better future and to the social and natural environment of Hamadori, Fukushima, Japan, and beyond. The institution may depend on broader revitalization efforts to thrive. I believe we can take inspiration from 'future-minded' HEIs that are closely connected to their environment and local communities. I might, however, be a little bit biased towards environmental studies as it is the master degree I am pursuing at the ULB, discussed previously. Nevertheless, I would always argue for a stronger focus on environment, in any context, as societies do not exist in a vacuum and we inherently and fully depend on the natural environment. Furthermore, I would argue that dialogues with local citizens and other Japanese stakeholders are essential to identify needs and priorities, more important, in fact, than my own foreign perspective. I think building such an institute should happen with the people of the region, not for them, grounded in bottom-up processes, rather than imposed top-down. Their needs as well as other Japanese citizens' needs should clearly be framed and considered.

Bibliography

- Ali, A., Haruko, M. Wainwright, G.S., Randall, G., Kimiaki S. (2024). Resilient design in nuclear energy: Critical lessons from a cross-disciplinary analysis of the Fukushima Dai-ichi nuclear accident. *iScience*, *27*(4), 109485. DOI: 10.1016/j.isci.2024.109485.
- Apgar, J.M., Argumedo, A. & Allen, W. (2009). Building Transdisciplinarity for Managing Complexity: Lessons from Indigenous Practice. *International Journal of Interdisciplinary Social Sciences, 4*(5), pp.255-270.

 https://essayquest.wordpress.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/apgar-j-m-2009.pdf
- Armstrong, K. (2024, September 10). *UK sells peaches from Fukushima nuclear disaster region*. https://www.bbc.com/news/articles/c628pm6r5jjo
- ASN. (2023). ASN Report on the state of nuclear safety and radiation protection in France in 2023. Autorité de Sûreté Nucléaire. https://www.french-nuclear-safety-nuclear-safety-and-radiation-protection-in-france-in-2023
- Autoriteit NVS. (2022, April 20). *Stresstests*. Autoriteit Nucleaire Veiligheid en Stralingsbescherming . https://www.autoriteitnvs.nl/voorlichting/stresstest
- Bernstein, J.H. (2015). Transdisciplinarity: A Review of Its Origins, Development, and Current Issues. *Journal of Research Practice*, *11*(1), pp. 1-20. http://jrp.icaap.org/index.php/jrp/article/view/510/412
- Bihet, M. (2025, May 15). *Kernenergie is terug: België begint aan een nieuw*energietijdperk. bihet.belgium.be.

 https://bihet.belgium.be/nl/nieuws/kernenergie-terug-belgie-begint-aan-eennieuw-energietijdperk-0

- Callery, J. (2023, August 30). Fission chips: Japan's PM eats "safe and delicious" fish from Fukushima after wastewater from the crippled nuclear plant was released into the sea, prompting safety fears. *Mail Online*.

 https://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-12461217/Japans-PM-eats-Fukushima-fish-prompting-safety-fears.html
- Courrier Internationale. (2023, July 12). À Fukushima, le Japon "devra garantir une transparence maximale." *Courrier International*.

 https://www.courrierinternational.com/article/nucleaire-a-fukushima-le-japon-devra-garantir-une-transparence-maximale
- Demerath, L. & Suarez, E. (2019). Teaching Complexity as Transdisciplinarity. In:

 Carmichael, T., Collins, A. & Hadžikadić, M. (eds) Complex Adaptive Systems

 (pp. 223-250). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20309-2_11
- De Vos, V. (2022, August 24). Japan wil opnieuw meer nucleaire energie | VRT NWS:

 nieuws. VRTNWS. https://www.vrt.be/vrtnws/nl/2022/08/24/japan-wil-opnieuwmeer-nucleaire-energie/
- EU4Schools. (n.d.). UNDP. https://www.undp.org/albania/projects/eu4schools
- European Commission. (2023, July 23). EU Cohesion Policy: Croatia received €1 billion in recovery support following the devastating earthquakes. ec.europa.eu.

 https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_23_3679
- Erdmann, K. (2021, March 1). *10 Jahre Fukushima Neuanfang nach der Katastrophe*.

 Deutschlandfunk Kultur. https://www.deutschlandfunkkultur.de/10-jahre-fukushima-neuanfang-nach-der-katastrophe-100.html
- Fahey, S.J. (2012). Curriculum change and climate change: Inside outside pressures in higher education. *J. Curriculum studies 44*(5), pp. 703-722. DOI: 10.1080/00220272.2012.679011

- FANC (2021). Fukushima 10 jaar later. fanc.fgov.be

 https://fanc.fgov.be/nl/system/files/2021-03-08-fukushima-10-jaar-latervdef.pdf
- FIPO. (n.d.). *About the Framework*. Fukushima Innovation Coast Framework. https://www.fipo.or.jp/en/framework
- F-REI. (n.d.). (The field of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries) Call for Unit Leaders of the Smart Agriculture Research Unit (provisional name). Fukushima Institute for Research, Education and Innovation (F-REI). https://www.frei.go.jp/english/recruitment/call_for_ul_smart_agri_en.html
- Fukushima Booklet Committee. (n.d.) 10 Lessons from Fukushima: Reducing risks and protecting communities from nuclear disaster [Booklet]. Japan: Fukushima Booklet Committee.

 http://fukushimalessons.jp/assets/content/doc/Fukushima10Lessons_ENG.pdf
- Fukushima Hamadori. (n.d.). FUTABA Art District | FUKUSHIMA HAMADORI COASTAL

 AREA. FUKUSHIMA HAMADORI COASTAL AREA. https://en.hamadoricoast.com/place/p03
- Fukshima Renewable Future Fund. (n.d.). *Home* | *Philosophy*. kikin.aizu-energy.co.jp. https://kikin.aizu-energy.co.jp/en/
- GCAS College Dublin. (n.d.). Our Philosophy | GCAS Scholar-Owned, Debt-Free Higher

 Education for the Future GCAS College Dublin debt-free, higher-quality

 education. GCAS College Dublin. https://gcas.ie/our-philosophy
- Greenpeace België. (2021a, March 11). 10 jaar later: leren van Fukushima (deel 1)
 Greenpeace België. https://www.greenpeace.org/belgium/nl/stories/20872/10jaar-later-leren-van-fukushima-deel-1/

- Greenpeace België. (2021b, March 11). 10 jaar later: leren van Fukushima (deel 2)
 Greenpeace België. https://www.greenpeace.org/belgium/nl/stories/20884/10jaar-later-leren-van-fukushima-deel-2/
- Hasegawa, K. (2012). Facing Nuclear Risks: Lessons from the Fukushima Nuclear Disaster. *International Journal of Japanese Sociology, 21*, pp. 84-91. DOI: 10.1111/j.1475-6781.2012.01164.x
- Heid, M. (2023, July 19). Why ultra-green Germany turned its back on nuclear energy.

 Vox. https://www.vox.com/future-perfect/2023/7/19/23799448/germanyclimate-change-nuclear-power-fukushima-carbon-emissions-coal-globalwarming
- Heylen, K. (2023, August 24). Japan start met lozen van gefilterd radioactief afvalwater uit Fukushima: "Veel kritiek, maar risico is laag" | VRT NWS: nieuws. *VRTNWS*. https://www.vrt.be/vrtnws/nl/2023/08/24/afvalwater-lozen-fukushima/
- I'MTech. (2023, November 9). Fukushima: 8 years on, what has changed in France?

 I'MTech. https://imtech.imt.fr/en/2020/01/16/fukushima-8-years-on-what-has-changed-in-france/
- Jantos, A., Langesee L.-M. & Kienzler, M. (2023). 21st Century Skills in Higher Education

 A Quantitative Analysis of Current Challenges and Potentials at A University of

 Excellence [Paper presentation]. 17th annual International Technology,

 Education and Development Conference, Valencia, Spain. DOI:

 10.21125/inted.2023.0438
- Japanese Government. (n.d.). *Discover Fukushima's Hamadori*. Japangov. https://www.japan.go.jp/tomodachi/2018/springsummer2018/ discover_fukushimas_hamadori.html

- Kenens, J. (n.d.). Lespakket: Leven na Fukushima. SCK CEN.

 https://www.sckcen.be/nl/opleidingen/stem/leerkrachten/lesmateriaal/lespakk

 et-leven-na-fukushima
- Keystone (n.d.). GCAS College Dublin The Global Centre for Advanced Studies

 Bachelor in Interdisciplinary Studies. https://www.educations.com.

 https://www.educations.com/institutions/gcas/bachelor-in-interdisciplinary-studies
- Krea University. (2024, October 15). *About KREA pioneers in interwoven learning in liberal arts*. Krea University Top University for Liberal Education.

 https://krea.edu.in/about/
- Krea University. (2025, May 26). *BA admission 2025. Krea University application open.*Krea University Top University for Liberal Education.

 https://krea.edu.in/sias/academics/
- Lelivrescolaire. (n.d.). *La catastrophe nucléaire de Fukushima (2/2) | Lelivrescolaire.fr.*Histoire-Géographie-EMC 5e. https://www.lelivrescolaire.fr/page/15110213
- Le Monde. (2025, February 14). Au Japon, début du démantèlement des réservoirs d'eau traitée de la centrale nucléaire de Fukushima. *Le Monde.fr*.

 https://www.lemonde.fr/international/article/2025/02/14/au-japon-debut-dudemantelement-des-reservoirs-d-eau-traitee-de-la-centrale-nucleaire-defukushima_6546181_3210.html
- Lochard, J. & Chhem, R.K (2023) Lessons from Fukushima: the power of culture as Storytelling. *The Lancet, 401*(10389), pp. 1650 1651. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(23)00719-5
- NEA. (2016). Five Years after the Fukushima Daiichi Accident: Nuclear Safety

 Improvements and Lessons Learnt. In *oecd-nea.org* (NEA No. 7284). Nuclear

- Energy Agency Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development. https://www.oecd-nea.org/upload/docs/application/pdf/2019-12/7284-five-years-fukushima.pdf
- NEA. (2021). Fukushima Daiichi Nuclear Power Plant Accident, Ten Years On: Progress,
 Lessons and Challenges. In OECD Nuclear Energy Agency (NEA No. 7558). OECD
 Publishing. https://www.oecd-nea.org/jcms/pl_56742/fukushima-daiichi-nuclear-power-plant-accident-ten-years-on?details=true
- NHK World. (2023, April 17). *Germany divided as final nuclear plant goes offline*. NHK WORLD. https://www3.nhk.or.jp/nhkworld/en/news/backstories/2401/
- Nomado. (n.d.). *野馬土について*. 野馬土. https://nomado.info/about/
- NOS Nieuws. (2017, March 10). *Wilde zwijnen maken nu nog de dienst uit rond Fukushima*. NOS. https://nos.nl/artikel/2162135-wilde-zwijnen-maken-nu-nog-de-dienst-uit-rond-fukushima
- NOS Nieuws. (2022, March 4). *Elektriciteitsbedrijf moet schadevergoeding betalen aan slachtoffers Fukushima*. NOS. https://nos.nl/artikel/2419780-elektriciteitsbedrijf-moet-schadevergoeding-betalen-aan-slachtoffers-fukushima
- NOS Nieuws. (2023, August 24). *Japan begonnen met lozen radioactief koelwater Fukushima in oceaan*. NOS. https://nos.nl/artikel/2487779-japan-begonnen-met-lozen-radioactief-koelwater-fukushima-in-oceaan
- ONR. (2021, March 11). Fukushima 10 years on: How ONR responded to a nuclear accident almost 6,000 miles away. Office for Nuclear Regulation.

 https://www.onr.org.uk/news/all-news/2021/03/fukushima-10-years-on-how-onr-responded-to-a-nuclear-accident-almost-6000-miles-away

- Redactie. (2023, August 22). *Japan start donderdag met lozen koelwater uit kerncentrale Fukushima*. https://www.demorgen.be/snelnieuws/japan-start-donderdag-met-lozen-koelwater-uit-kerncentrale-fukushima~b6ee6c376/
- Rensen, F. (2024, November 7). Robotarm haalt voor het eerst een korreltje kernafval uit verwoeste reactor Fukushima. https://www.demorgen.be/tech-wetenschap/robotarm-haalt-voor-het-eerst-een-korreltje-kernafval-uit-verwoeste-reactor-fukushima~b3d68226/
- Repères (March, 2021). Fukushima Daiichi: What progress 10 years later? (Report No.48). The ISRN magazine. https://en.irsn.fr/sites/en/files/2023-10/IRSN_magazine-reperes48_Special-Fukushima-EN-20210310.pdf
- RIVM. (2020). Afweging van voor- en nadelen van beschermende maatregelen bij kernongevallen (RIVM-rapport 2020-0058). Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu. https://www.rivm.nl/bibliotheek/rapporten/2020-0058.pdf
- SCK CEN. (2025, May 15). België maakt opnieuw ruimte voor kernenergie: SCK CEN bekijkt eventuele opportuniteiten. https://www.sckcen.be/nl/nieuws/belgie-maakt-opnieuw-ruimte-voor-kernenergie-sck-cen-bekijkt-eventuele-opportuniteiten
- The Economist. (2021, March 6). Nuclear power must be well-regulated, not ditched.

 The Economist. https://www.economist.com/leaders/2021/03/06/nuclear-power-must-be-well-regulated-not-ditched
- ULB. (n.d.). Master in Environmental Science and Management with focus Management of the environment ULB. https://www.ulb.be/en/programme/m-envig#presentation
- UMA. (2023, October 24). *Our faculties Universidad del Medio Ambiente*. Universidad Del Medio Ambiente. https://umamexico.com/our-faculties/

- UMA. (2024, October 29). Licenciatura en Emprendimiento y Proyectos

 Socioambientales Universidad del Medio Ambiente. Universidad Del Medio

 Ambiente. https://umamexico.com/licenciaturas/#plandeestudio
- Van Der Veere, A. (2022, March 11). Elf jaar na kernramp Fukushima eisen kankerpatiënten miljoenencompensatie. NOS. https://nos.nl/artikel/2420685-elf-jaar-na-kernramp-fukushima-eisen-kankerpatienten-miljoenencompensatie
- VRT NWS. (2021, March 11). Lessen uit Japan: 10 vragen en antwoorden, 10 jaar na de aardbeving, tsunami en kernramp | VRT NWS: nieuws. *VRTNWS*.

 https://www.vrt.be/vrtnws/nl/2021/03/10/lessen-uit-japan-10-jaar-na-de-aardbeving-tsunami-en-kernramp/
- Wang, Q., Chen, X., &Yi-chong, X. (2013). Accident like the Fukushima unlikely in a country with effective nuclear regulation: Literature review and proposed guidelines. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 17, pp. 126-146. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2012.09.012
- World Nuclear Association. (n.d.). Fukushima Daiichi Accident World Nuclear Association. https://world-nuclear.org/information-library/safety-and-security/safety-of-plants/fukushima-daiichi-accident
- Yang, J.E. (2014). Fukushima Dai-Ichi Accident: Lessons Learned And Future Actions
 From The Risk Perspectives. Nuclear engineering and technology, 46(1), pp. 27-38.

 DOI: 10.5516/NET.03.2014.702.